### IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

### No. 23-ICA-72

ICA EFiled: May 24 2023 05:34PM EDT Transaction ID 70080805

MISSION COAL WIND DOWN CO., LLC, and PLAN ADMINISTRATOR, GILBERT NATHAN, *Appellants Below, Petitioners,* 

v.

DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF MINING AND RECLAMATION, DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION, *Appellee Below, Respondent.* 

### **PETITIONERS' BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF APPEAL**

Counsel for Petitioners, Mission Coal Wind Down Co., LLC and Plan Administrator, Gilbert Nathan

Christopher M. Hunter (WVBN 9768) JACKSON KELLY, PLLC 1600 Laidley Tower Post Office Box 553 Charleston, West Virginia 25322 (304) 340-1000 chunter@jacksonkelly.com

# **

### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. THE BOARD ERRED IN FINDING THAT MR. NATHAN HAS A RELATIONSHIP GIVING HIM ACTUAL AUTHORITY TO CONTROL THE MANNER IN WHICH BLUESTONE OPERATES THE PINNACLE MINE COMPLEX.<sup>1</sup>
- 2. THE BOARD ERRED IN FINDING THAT MR. NATHAN IS A CONTROLLER OF THE PERMITTEE, PINNACLE MINING COMPANY, LLC.<sup>2</sup>
- 3. THE BOARD ERRED IN AFFIRMING DEP'S ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS APPLICATION OF WVSCMRA'S PERMIT BLOCKING PROVISIONS BECAUSE DEP'S CAPRICIOUS ENFORCEMENT HAS UNDERMINED THE POLICY BEHIND WVSCMRA'S PERMIT BLOCKING PROVISIONS AND THE APPLICANT VIOLATOR SYSTEM.<sup>3</sup>

## **II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### A. Summary of Case

This appeal seeks to correct an extreme example of arbitrary and capricious enforcement by the West Virginia Department of Environmental Protection ("DEP") in administering the West Virginia Surface Coal Mining and Reclamation Act's ("WVSCMRA") ownership and control rules and permit blocking framework.<sup>4</sup> As will be explained in more detail below, WVSCMRA's regulatory framework includes a concept commonly referred to as "permit blocking," which is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Preserved in the record below through Petitioners' Notice of Appeal to the Board. *See* D.R. 0019 (Question of Fact and Law, No. 2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Preserved in the record below through Petitioners' opening statement to the Board. *See, e.g.*, D.R. 1418; Tr., p. 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Preserved in the record below through opening and closing statements, Petitioners' Notice of Appeal to the Board (D.R. 0010) and more specifically, through testimony by AVS expert, Barry Doss. *See, e.g.,* D.R. 1681-84; Tr, pp. 280-83 (B. Doss).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For simplicity, the regulatory framework, whereby DEP requires submission by permit applicants of information concerning their owners and controllers and then enters that information is the centralized Applicant Violator System in order to determine permit eligibility and permit blocking, will be referred to as "permit blocking".

designed to preclude current permittees who have failed their legal obligations from receiving additional permits. Once a person or entity is permit blocked, they become virtually unemployable in the coal industry because the permit block can spread to any entity that employs them in a controlling capacity.

The current permit holder (Pinnacle Mining Company, LLC) of the eight surface mining permits associated Pinnacle Mine Complex in Wyoming County, West Virginia went bankrupt and no longer exists as a going business concern. All assets associated with the Pinnacle Mine Complex were sold to Contura Energy, Inc. ("Contura") or Bluestone Resources, Inc. and/or Bluestone Oil Corp. (hereinafter referred to collectively as "Bluestone"). Pursuant to the Bluestone Asset Purchase Agreement ("APA"), Bluestone was required to obtain surface mining permits for the portions of the Pinnacle Mine Complex that Contura did not take.

Petitioner Gilbert Nathan was appointed as the Plan Administrator over the postbankruptcy, reorganized debtors, including the entity corresponding to the now-defunct permit holder. Mr. Nathan's appointment was envisioned as lasting only a few short months until Bluestone secured transfer or replacement of all eight surface mining permits associated with the Pinnacle Mine Complex. However, Bluestone has now been operating the Pinnacle Mine Complex for four years, but has never secured the transfer of a single permit. Even worse, Bluestone has racked up over thirty unabated violations of the surface mining permits pursuant to which it operates, as well as approximately \$276,000 in unpaid fines and mining fees.

In deciding who should be deemed a "controller" of the Pinnacle Mine Complex for purposes of being linked to the violations and unpaid penalties within the centralized Applicant Violator System, DEP chose to ignore both the people who drove Pinnacle Mining Company, LLC into bankruptcy and—more egregiously—the operator (Bluestone) who has been profiting from

the operation of the complex for the past four years, accumulating fines and violations along the way.

Instead, DEP chose to exclusively target Gilbert Nathan, the Plan Administrator for the reorganized version of Pinnacle Mining Company, LLC—Pinn MC Wind Down Co., LLC ("Pinn MC"). Mr. Nathan was singled out for enforcement in spite of the fact that his scope of authority in this matter was limited to performing administrative tasks for post-bankruptcy shells of formerly existing companies until such time as they could be liquidated.

Never before has DEP listed a bankruptcy trustee or plan administrator for a liquidating trust as the "controller" of a coal mining operation. DEP's stated reason for taking the novel approach of permit blocking Mr. Nathan as the Plan Administrator was that "every single corporate coal company" has a human being designated as responsible for compliance within the Applicant Violator System ("AVS"). In other words, DEP wants to have a live person, or "warm body," it can threaten enforcement action against in order to coerce compliance from permit-holding entities.

The main problem with this justification is that the record established that DEP frequently allows permit-holding entities to operate without any such person at all being designated as the "responsible human." The agency's decision to list Mr. Nathan as a controller, while letting Bluestone and its officers off the hook, indicates only sporadic application of its newly-fabricated "warm body" standard. This is the definition of arbitrary and capricious agency action. The Board's final order affirming this brand of selective enforcement was clearly unreasonable.

Furthermore, the record below established that Mr. Nathan does not have any actual authority to control the manner in which Bluestone runs the Pinnacle Mine Complex, which means he cannot be a "controller" under WVSCMRA. The entities Mr. Nathan administers were not left

with any of the personal or real property necessary to operate the Pinnacle Mine Complex—those assets all went to Bluestone. Mr. Nathan never had the authority to direct the timing or method of mining, nor could he determine to whom Bluestone sold its coal or for what price. Mr. Nathan repeatedly pleaded with Bluestone to bring the Pinnacle Mine Complex surface mining permits into compliance with WVSMCRA, to no avail. Mr. Nathan has even done as DEP suggested: he filed a motion to hold Bluestone in contempt of its obligations under the various contracts its signed before the Alabama Bankruptcy Court, but not even the threat of Bankruptcy Court enforcement can spur Bluestone to action. Instead, DEP and the Board used Mr. Nathan's failed efforts to compel compliance from Bluestone to further cement the finding that Mr. Nathan was actually capable of controlling the recalcitrant mine operator.

Mr. Nathan simply does meet the legal definition of a "controller"; he does not have a relationship that gives him the actual authority to direct the manner in which the Pinnacle Mine Complex is operated. Accordingly, DEP's finding that he is a "controller" of the Pinnacle Mine Complex surface mining permits is not supported by substantial evidence or in accordance with applicable law, and, by extension, neither was the Board's final order affirming DEP's finding of "control."

### **B.** Factual Background

### 1. The Mission Coal Bankruptcy and Appointment of the Plan Administrator.

In October of 2018, Mission Coal Company, LLC ("Mission Coal") and its subsidiaries, including Pinnacle Mining Company, LLC ("Pinnacle"), filed a voluntary petition in the United State Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Alabama seeking relief under the provisions of Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. D.R. 1446; Hearing Transcript ("Tr."), p. 45 (Testimony of Gilbert Nathan). During the Mission Coal bankruptcy, Bluestone made a successful bid to acquire all assets related to Mission Coal's Pinnacle Mine Complex, other than specific assets to be acquired by Contura. D.R. 1451-54; Tr., pp. 50-53 (Gil Nathan). An Asset Purchase Agreement ("APA") cementing the terms of the sale to Bluestone was executed on Mission Coal's behalf by a chief restructuring officer—not the current Plan Administrator—on April 4, 2019. *See* D.R. 0578; Certified Record ("CR"), p. 35; *see also* D.R. 1450; Tr., p. 49 (Gil Nathan). Pursuant to the APA, Bluestone acquired all liabilities and obligations associated with the Pinnacle Mine Complex surface mining permits and all other associated permits.<sup>5</sup> D.R. 0600; CR, p. 57 (APA, §2.33).

Bluestone also agreed to transfer into its name or obtain replacement permits for all the surface mining permits and associated permits related to the Pinnacle Mine Complex, which were and still are permitted to Pinnacle Mining Company, LLC. D.R. 0589-90; CR, pp. 46-47 (APA, §7.7(b)(iii); *see also* APA, §7.7(b)(iii)(2) ("[f]rom and after the Closing, Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to pursue the transfer of the West Virginia Mining Permits (including Replacement Permits) to Buyer as promptly as possible").

On April 15, 2019, the Bankruptcy Court entered the Order Confirming the Fourth Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Mission Coal Company, LLC and Certain of its Debtor Affiliates ("Confirmation Order"), which contemplated the sale of the Pinnacle Mine Complex to Bluestone as a cornerstone of Mission Coal's wind-down effort. D.R. 0839; CR, p. 296 (Confirmation Order). The Fourth Amended Plan, which was approved via the Confirmation Order, stated that, after the effective date of the reorganization, the Debtors "for all purposes shall

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Article 3/surface mining permits associated with the Pinnacle Mine Complex include the following: O-0138-83 Pinnacle Plant; U-0707-00 Slope / Dump; O-4022-92 Impoundment; O-4008-92 Shafts / Borehole; O-4010-97 Gob Gas Well Sites; E-002500 GR1, GR2, NR pumps; U-0204-83 50 Mine & warehouse; U-0220-83 Maitland Ponds. The other associated permits are listed in Schedule 2.1(g) to the APA. *See* D.R. 1894-95.

be deemed to have withdrawn their business operations from any state in which the Debtors were previously conducting...their business operations...." D.R. 0930; CR, p. 387 (Fourth Amended Plan, Art. VII, §B); *see also* D.R. 1461; Tr., p. 60 (Gil Nathan).

The next flurry of activity in the Mission Coal bankruptcy occurred on April 30, 2019, with numerous documents being executed on Mission Coal's behalf by its chief restructuring officer. Mission Coal and Bluestone entered into a *Contract Operator Agreement*, in which Bluestone agreed to become the operator on certain active Pinnacle Mine Complex permits. D.R. 0565; Tr., p. 22. Mission Coal and Bluestone executed the *General Assignment and Bill of Sale*, effectuating the closing of the sale contemplated by the APA. D.R. 0558; Tr., p. 15.

On April 30, 2019, contemporaneously with the execution of the *Contract Operator Agreement*, and *General Assignment and Bill of Sale*, the Bankruptcy Court approved appointment of Petitioner Gilbert Nathan as the Plan Administrator for Mission Coal Wind Down Co., LLC ("MC Wind Down"). *See* D.R. 0785; CR, p. 242, *Sixth Amended Plan Supplement*. MC Wind Down and its affiliates, including Pinn MC Wind Down Coal, LLC ("Pinn MC"), are distinct companies from their pre-bankruptcy corresponding entities. D.R. 1468-70; Tr, pp. 67-69 (Gil Nathan).

Pursuant to the terms of the *Plan Administrator Agreement*, Exhibit I to the *Sixth Amended Plan Supplement*, the Plan Administrator's "Scope of Services" "is to provide post-Plan Effective Date Administration, wind down, dissolution, and liquidating services that are necessary, required, desirable, or advisable to effectuate the Wind Down and to make certain distributions under the Plan." D.R. 0793; CR, pp. 250; D.R. 1457-60; Tr., pp. 56-59 (Gil Nathan). Nothing in the Plan Administrator's scope of services authorizes him to operate coal mines or direct the manner in which the reorganized debtors' former mines are operated. Moreover, once the reorganized

entities emerged from Bankruptcy, they had no employees and were, thus, not staffed to operate a coal mine. D.R. 1447; Tr., p. 46 (Gil Nathan). Accordingly, Mr. Nathan would have been incapable of operating coal mines, even if he were authorized to do so.

### 2. Bluestone's Post-Bankruptcy Operation of the Pinnacle Mine Complex.

After the Bluestone APA closed, Bluestone applied for transfer of the majority of the Pinnacle permits. On June 12, 2019, DEP granted Bluestone Advance Approval, in acknowledgement of the applications for permit transfer. D.R. 0960; CR, p. 417. Pursuant to the Advance Approval, Bluestone was allowed to act as the operator of the Pinnacle Mine Complex surface mine permits. D.R. 1677; Tr., p. 276 (B. Doss). Bluestone's Advance Approval to operate the Pinnacle Mine Complex was only valid for 60 days, yet DEP has allowed Bluestone to continue surface mining activities at the Pinnacle Mine Complex for three and a half years (as of the date of the hearing), with no evidence in the record that the Advance Approval has ever been formally extended by the agency. D.R. 1595; Tr., p. 194 (Gil Nathan).

Since the closing of the sale to Bluestone over four years ago, Bluestone has not secured the transfer of a single surface mining permit or obtained any replacement permits. D.R. 1449; Tr., p. 48 (Gil Nathan). Moreover, there have been 34 unabated violations and failure to abate cessation order, as well as unpaid civil penalties and unpaid Abandoned Mine Land ("AML") fees associated with the eight surface mining permits covering the Pinnacle Mine Complex. *See* D.R. 0997-1398; CR, pp. 454-855 (DEP notices of violations issued during Bluestone's operation of the Pinnacle Mine Complex). *See also* D.R. 1684; Tr., pp. 283 (B. Doss testimony that Bluestone accumulated more than \$276,000 in unpaid fines and AML fees).

There is no dispute that the operations at the Pinnacle Mine Complex have been overseen exclusively by Bluestone since April 30, 2019. Yet, on August 1, 2022, WVDEP issued a *Decision and Order* in which it named Gilbert Nathan as a controller of Pinnacle Mining Company LLC,

with a begin date of April 30, 2019, based solely on his status as Plan Administrator of Mission Coal Wind Down Co., LLC. *See* D.R.0012-0016 (WVDEP *Decision and Order*). As a result of WVDEP's *Decision and Order*, Mr. Nathan was immediately linked to the violations Bluestone has committed at the Pinnacle Mine Complex within the AVS, which led to him and an unrelated coal company being permit-blocked (due to Mr. Nathan's position on the board of directors for the company). D.R. 1464; Tr., p. 63 (Gil Nathan).

### C. Proceedings Below

Mr. Nathan and Mission Coal Wind Down Co., LLC filed a timely appeal of WVDEP's *Decision and Order* to the West Virginia Surface Mining Board on August 31, 2022. D.R. 0004. The Board held an evidentiary hearing on October 19, 2022, during which it heard sworn testimony from Mr. Nathan (fact witness for Appellants), Mike Isabell (mining expert witness for Appellants), Barry Doss (expert witness for Appellants in mining, permitting, and the Applicant Violator System), and Susan Wheeler (fact witness for Appellee). D.R. 1401 (beginning of hearing transcript before the Board).

DEP's AVS Coordinator, Susan Wheeler, testified that this was the first time DEP had ever entered a plan administrator into the AVS. D.R. 1746; Tr., p. 345. Ms. Wheeler admitted neither Bluestone nor any of its officers or directors had ever been associated with the Pinnacle Mine Complex permits. D.R. 1752-54; Tr., pp. 351-53. It was also established that there have been multiple time periods, including a four-year period, where no person was linked to the Pinnacle Mine Complex within the AVS. D.R. 1675-76; Tr., pp. 274-75 (B. Doss testifying that Appellant Exh. 5 showed 4-year time period where no person was linked to Pinnacle). Ms. Wheeler admitted that DEP was unaware as to how often is actually adhered to the standard articulated at the hearing, which allegedly compels it to ensure that a live person is associated with every surface mining permit in the AVS. D.R. 1755; Tr., p. 354 (Susan Wheeler testifying that she did not have an estimate of how many entities have no person associated with violations committed by the entity within AVS).

The Board entered a Final Order on January 23, 2023 affirming the finding by DEP that Gilbert Nathan is a "controller" of Pinnacle Mining Company, LLC and thereby personally subject to "permit blocking" for violations of environmental laws attributable to Pinnacle. *See* D.R. 2144-71. The Board's conclusion that Mr. Nathan controls the Pinnacle Mine Complex rests primarily on four points, each of which will be addressed in the argument section below: (1) Mr. Nathan has control over the permit holder, Pinnacle Mining Company, LLC; (2) Mr. Nathan passed along WVDEP's notices of violations ("NOVs") to Bluestone and that, "[a]t least on occasion", Bluestone complied with the remedial measures commanded by WVDEP's NOVs; (3) Mr. Nathan filed a motion with the Alabama Bankruptcy Court to compel Bluestone to comply with its obligations under the APA and other bankruptcy documents; and (4) Mr. Nathan has exclusive authority to complete the permit transfers. *See* D.R. 2163-69; Final Order, pp. 20-26.

### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Board committed legal error in inferring from various bankruptcy contracts and documents that Gilbert Nathan, in his capacity as Plan Administration for Mission Coal Wind Down Co., LLC and Pinn MC, had a relationship that gave him implied authority to determine the manner in which mining operations were conducted at the Pinnacle Mine Complex. The law requires a demonstration of a relationship that gives Mr. Nathan *actual* authority to control the manner in which Bluestone conducts mining. The record, however, is devoid of any evidence that Mr. Nathan had actual, unilateral authority to force Bluestone into compliance.

The Board further erred in affirming DEP's arbitrary and capricious application of WVSCMRA's permit blocking provisions. In the present case, the agency was challenged as to why it listed Mr. Nathan as a controller of Pinnacle Mining Company, LLC, rather than linking Bluestone's officers to violations Bluestone caused. DEP had no valid answer for its inconsistent application of WVSCMRA's ownership and control rules and corresponding permit blocking provisions.

DEP's arbitrary and capricious enforcement of WVSCMRA and the Board's endorsement of the same place Mr. Nathan in a very untenable position. DEP lays all the blame for Bluestone's operations at his feet. The only way he can get out from under the permit block is to either (1) remedy Bluestone's violations, which he does not have the resources to do; or (2) get the Pinnacle permits transferred to Bluestone, which DEP refuses to do. To the extent Mr. Nathan arguably ever had any leverage on Bluestone, it has long since dissipated as DEP allowed Bluestone to wring all economic benefit out of the Pinnacle permits for three and a half years before ever notifying Mr. Nathan that he would ultimately be held personally responsible for cleaning up Bluestone's mess.

### IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioners aver that oral argument under Rule 19 would be useful in articulating the issues for the Court's consideration because the matter involves assignments of error related to Respondent's novel application of settled law and further involves narrow issues of law. This appeal is not appropriate for a memorandum decision pursuant to W.Va. R. App. P. 21.

### V. ARGUMENT

#### A. Legal Framework

#### 1. WVSCMRA's Permit Blocking Scheme.

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