INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

ICA EFiled: Jul 12 2023 04:57PM EDT Transaction ID 70371509

Appeal No. 23-ICA-72

MISSION COAL WIND DOWN CO., LLC and GILBERT NATHAN, AS PLAN ADMINISTRATOR

Petitioner,

v.

JONATHAN RORRER, DIRECTOR OF THE OFFICE OF MINING AND RECLAMATION OF THE WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE WEST VIRGINIA SURFACE MINE BOARD

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

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

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Each of the Petitioners' assignments of error fails to establish that the reasoned, detailed, and fully supported decisions of the Director and the Board are arbitrary or capricious or clearly wrong, and this Court should affirm those decisions in all respects.

²³ See D.R.0550 [Decision and Order, p. 4].

²⁴ See D.R.0005 [Notice of Appeal (to the West Virginia Surface Mine Board), p. 1].

²⁵ See D.R.2144-2170 [Final Order, dated January 23, 2023].

A. THE COURT MAY REVERSE THE BOARD (AND THE DIRECTOR) ONLY UPON A SHOWING THAT ITS DECISION WAS ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS

Although the State Administrative Procedures Act specifies other bases for overturning an administrative order, *see* W.VA. CODE § 29A-5-4(g), the Petitioners appear to rely upon only one—specifically, subsection (6), which contemplates reversal only if "the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, decision, or order are . . . arbitrary or capricious." As the Supreme Court has stated, "[t]he 'clearly wrong' and the 'arbitrary and capricious' standards of review are deferential ones which presume an agency's actions are valid as long as the decision is supported by substantial evidence or by a rational basis." Syl. Pt. 3, *In re Queen*, 196 W.Va. 442, 473 S.E.2d 483 (1996). Inasmuch as the reasoned and detailed decisions of the Department, the Director, and the Board are supported by substantial evidence by substantial evidence and have an eminently rational basis, this Court should affirm those decisions.

B. THE BOARD'S DETERMINATION THAT MR. NATHAN HAS A RELATIONSHIP GIVING HIM ACTUAL AUTHORITY TO CONTROL THE MANNER OF MINING AT THE PINNACLE MINE COMPLEX WAS NOT ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS

The State Rules define "owns or controls" for purposes of the surface mining laws as, among other things, "having *any* . . . *relationship* which gives one person *authority directly or indirectly* to determine the manner in which *the permit holder, an operator or other entity* conducts surface mining operations."²⁶ After reviewing the evidence, the Department, the Director, and the Surface Mine Board all determined that the Plan Administrator had such a relationship. As exhaustively detailed and fully supported in the Board's Final Order, the record establishes a firm basis for that determination.

As the Board found, Mr. Nathan accepted and assumed his position as the Plan Administrator pursuant to his agreement with Mission Coal and Mission Coal's bankruptcy court-

²⁶ W. VA. CODE ST. R. § 38-2-2.85.c.

approved bankruptcy plan (the "*Bankruptcy Plan*").²⁷ In his agreement, Mr. Nathan expressly agreed to perform the functions of the Plan Administrator under the terms of the Bankruptcy Plan.²⁸ Under that plan, the Plan Administrator assumed the mantel of Pinnacle Mining's sole manager, director, and officer with the sole authority to represent and act on its behalf.²⁹ Thus, as the Board concluded,³⁰ the Plan Administrator assumed sole control of the permit holder and statutory operator of all of the Pinnacle Permits and, as its sole representative with all the powers of its managers, directors, and officers, has the exclusive authority to manage the permit holder-operator's permits and affairs, including the exclusive authority to determine how the permit holder-operator conducts surface mining operations on the permits.

Rather than contradict the Plan Administrator's authority, the fact that Pinnacle Mining had entered into an asset sale agreement³¹ and a Contract Operator Agreement with Bluestone³² establishes that Pinnacle Mining had, and the Plan Administrator assumed as its controller, the actual authority to determine the method and manner of mining of the Pinnacle Permits. Through the two agreements, Pinnacle Mining elected to employ Bluestone as its own contract operator to conduct surface mining operations on its permits pending the transfer of the permits to Bluestone.³³ Bluestone agreed with Pinnacle Mining to conduct those operations in accordance with the permits and the mining laws.³⁴ Even so, however, Pinnacle Mining and the Plan Administrator retained,

²⁷ See D.R.2147 & D.R.2150-2151 [Final Order, ¶¶ 11, 12, 13, & 22-26] (citing Confirmation Order, Bankruptcy Plan, *Plan Administrator Agreement*, and the Plan Administrator's testimony).

²⁸ See D.R.2151 [Final Order, ¶ 26].

²⁹ See D.R.2151 [Final Order, ¶ 27].

³⁰ See D.R.2151 [Final Order, ¶¶ 27-29] & D.R.2162-2169 [Final Order, Conclusions of Law, Part C, ¶¶ 83 et seq.].

³¹ The *Bluestone Sale Agreement* starts at D.R.0017.

³² The Contract Operator Agreement starts at D.R.0565.

³³ See D.R.0566-0567 [Contract Operator Agreement, § 2].

³⁴ See D.R.0567 [Contract Operator Agreement, § 3].

as the Board expressly found, the rights and duties to maintain the Pinnacle Permits, including to remediate violations on the Pinnacle Permits,³⁵ and complete the transfers of the Pinnacle Permits.³⁶ Simply put, Pinnacle Mining, as the permit holder-operator of the Pinnacle Permits, elected to employ a contract operator to conduct mining activities on its behalf while Pinnacle Mining and the Plan Administrator retained the obligations to comply with the permits and the mining laws and exclusive oversight and control over its own contract operator under the Bluestone Sale Agreement and the Contract Operator Agreement.³⁷ In fact, the Plan Administrator employed his own mining engineer early in his tenure to advise and assist him in that regard.³⁸ And the record is replete with instances in which the Plan Administrator, acting on his own or through his mining engineer, exercised his rights under Pinnacle Mining's agreements.³⁹ Ultimately, in fact, the Plan Administrator brought legal proceedings in the Alabama bankruptcy court to compel Bluestone to perform its obligations under the Bluestone Sale Agreement.⁴⁰

Thus, the facts and circumstances establish, as the Board ultimately concluded based on the extensive record before it,⁴¹ that Mr. Nathan has relationships giving him the authority to

³⁵ See D.R.2165-2166 [Final Order, ¶¶ 96-102].

³⁶ See D.R.2164-2165 [Final Order, ¶¶ 93-95].

³⁷ See D.R.2167 [Final Order, ¶ 103], citing the testimony of Mr. Nathan.

³⁸ See D.R.2166-2167 [Final Order, ¶ 101 & 106], citing the testimony of Mr. Nathan and Mr. Isabell.

³⁹ See D.R.2167-2168 [Final Order, ¶¶ 104-107]. The Petitioners claim that "[t]here is no dispute that the operations at the Pinnacle Mine Complex have been overseen exclusively by Bluestone since April 30, 2019." Petitioners' Brief, p. 7. The Respondent denies that claim and that statement. As stated in the text, the record is replete with instances in which the Plan Administrator oversaw—or at least attempted to oversee—Bluestone's operations on the Pinnacle Permits through his attempted enforcement of the Bluestone Sale Agreement and the Contract Operator Agreement.

⁴⁰ See D.R.2168 [Final Order, ¶¶ 109-111], citing the Plan Administrator's Motion for Enforcement and the testimony of Mr. Nathan.

⁴¹ See D.R.2169 [Final Order, ¶¶ 112-113].

control the manner of mining at the Pinnacle Mine Complex through his direct authority over Pinnacle Mining, the permit holder and statutory operator under the permits, and his indirect authority over Bluestone as Pinnacle Mining's contract operator via his exclusive authority to enforce the terms of Pinnacle Mining's agreements with Pinnacle Mining's contract operator, Bluestone. Supported as it is with extensive citation to substantial evidence and a rational basis, the Board's decision in that regard is, therefore, not arbitrary, capricious, or clearly wrong and should be affirmed.

C. THE BOARD'S DETERMINATION THAT MR. NATHAN CONTROLS THE PERMIT HOLDER WAS NOT ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS

In urging that Mr. Nathan does not control Pinnacle Mining, the Petitioners urge this Court to accept as fact a "legal fiction" that, solely for purposes of understanding and interpreting the implications of federal bankruptcy law, divides a single legal entity into three different "things." The Board expressly considered, and rejected, the very same contention.⁴² As the Board noted, the Bankruptcy Plan and Mr. Nathan's own testimony support that conclusion.⁴³

When a debtor company files for Chapter 11 bankruptcy, the Bankruptcy Code denotes the debtor company as a "debtor in possession"⁴⁴ and vests it with the powers and duties of a trustee⁴⁵ presiding over a "bankruptcy estate" created upon the filing of the bankruptcy petition.⁴⁶ When the debtor company subsequently exits bankruptcy, the property remaining in the bankruptcy estate "revests" in the debtor,⁴⁷ which is then denoted as a "reorganized debtor." For purposes of understanding

⁴² See D.R.2163 [Final Order, ¶ 86].

⁴³ *Id.*, citing D.R.0418 [*Bankruptcy Plan*, Art. IV, § I.1(a)] & D.R.1493-1494 [Hearing Transcript, 92:20-93:1 (Nathan testimony)].

⁴⁴ See 11 U.S.C. § 1101(1).

⁴⁵ See 11 U.S.C. § 1107(a).

⁴⁶ See 11 U.S.C. § 541(a).

⁴⁷ See 11 U.S.C. § 1141(b).

the bankruptcy-related consequences of the filing and effect of a bankruptcy case, the Bankruptcy Code creates out of a single legal entity "a legal fiction" of three different "things"—the debtor, the debtor in possession, and the reorganized debtor⁴⁸ Throughout that process, however, no new legal entities are created. The debtor continues to exist, first designated as a "debtor in possession," and then as the "reorganized debtor."⁴⁹ None of the cases the Petitioner cites contradict this conclusion or even imply that the reorganized debtor is, in fact, a separate legal entity.

In this case, Pinnacle Mining emerged from bankruptcy as the same legal entity, then still named Pinnacle Mining,⁵⁰ continuing in existence as a "reorganized debtor" and holding the very same permits it held when it filed bankruptcy.⁵¹ It also held all the contracts that Pinnacle Mining had entered into with the Plan Administrator and Bluestone, including both the Bluestone Sale Agreement and Contract Operator Agreement.⁵² Within two months *after* the Bankruptcy Plan became effective and the bankruptcy case ended, Pinnacle Mining changed its name to Pinn MC Wind Down LLC.⁵³ But the simple fact remains that the same legal entity that entered bankruptcy with the Pinnacle Permits and still holds them today. Simply put, Pinn MC Wind Down LLC is Pinnacle Mining Company, LLC and is the same legal entity that entered bankruptcy in

⁴⁸ See Mesabi Metallics Co LLC v. B Riley FBR, Inc. (In re Essar Steel Minnesota, LLC), Adv. Proc No. 18-50833, 2023 WL 4163458, Slip Op. *1 (Bankr. D. Del., June 23, 2023).

⁴⁹ See id.; Cross Media Marketing Corp. v. CAB Marketing, Inc. (In re Cross Media Marketing Corp.), 367 B.R. 435, 451 (Bankr. S.D. N.Y. 2007); Tennessee Wheel and Rubber Co. v. Captron Corporate Air Fleet (In re Tennessee Wheel and Rubber Co.), 64 B.R. 721, 725 (Bankr.M.D.Tenn.1986), each of which is discussed in more detail below.

⁵⁰ See D.R.0676 and D.R.0683 [Bankruptcy Plan, Art. I, § A. 52 & 134] (defining the Reorganized Debtors as the Debtors, including, by name, Pinnacle Mining Company, LLC, from and after the Effective Date of the Plan).

⁵¹ See D.R.0696 [Bankruptcy Plan, Art. IV, § I] ("On and after the Plan Effective Date . . ., the Debtors . . . shall . . . continue in existence for purposes of . . . complying with their continuing obligations under the Sale Transaction Documentation (including with respect to the transfer of permits to the Successful Bidder as contemplated therein)").

⁵² See D.R.0696 [Bankruptcy Plan, Art. IV, § I (1)(e)].

⁵³ See D.R.1896 [Appellee Ex. 2, ¶ 6] ("Subsequent to the Date of Confirmation each of the Reorganized Debtors lawfully changed its name by recording [the required documents] in the offices of the Secretary of State of each of their respective State of formation."). Nothing in the motion and the order the Alabama bankruptcy court subsequently entered suggest that Pinn MC Wind Down LLC is a different legal entity than the Pinnacle Mining Company that entered, reorganized, and then emerged from bankruptcy; to the contrary it clearly states that Pinnacle Mining simply changed its name. See also D.R.1904-1906 [Appellee Ex. 3].

October 2018 then known as Pinnacle Mining Company, LLC. Indeed, as Mr. Nathan testified, Pinn MC Wind Down uses the very same tax identification number that Pinnacle Mining used.⁵⁴

Thus, as the Board expressly concluded and the record fully supports, when Mr. Nathan assumed his role as the Plan Administrator under the Bankruptcy Plan, he assumed control of Pinnacle Mining which, under its new name, continues to hold the permits issued to Pinnacle Mining and designated for transfer to Bluestone, subject to the application of applicable nonbankruptcy law. The Board's decision in that regard is, therefore, not arbitrary, capricious, or clearly wrong and should be affirmed.

D. THE DEPARTMENT'S ACTIONS DID NOT UNDERMINE, AND INSTEAD FURTHERED, THE POLICY BEHIND THE MINING LAWS' PERMIT BLOCKING PROVISIONS AND THE APPLICANT VIOLATOR SYSTEM

Directly contrary to the Petitioner's argument, the facts of this case establish beyond per adventure that the actions of the federal and state regulatory authorities in "loading" Mr. Nathan into ownership and control *actually furthered* the policies underlying the permit blocking provisions of the mining laws. For more than three years before the federal agency and the Department "loaded" him into their respective databases, the Plan Administrator had simply encouraged or cajoled Bluestone to perform, all to little effect.⁵⁵ When, however, the federal agency and the Department loaded him into their respective ownership and control databases with the result that he became permit blocked, the Plan Administrator finally took legal action to enforce

⁵⁴ See D.R.1470 [Hearing Transcript, 69:3-12 (Nathan testimony)]. In testifying about the filing of tax returns for the reorganized debtors, Mr. Nathan used language entirely consistent with the "legal fiction" surrounding the debtor, the debtor in possession, and the reorganized debtor.] See D.R.1470 [Hearing Transcript, p. 69:13-16] ("Q. Do you *treat* [the reorganized debtors] as distinct entities from the pre-bankruptcy debtors? A. For all intents and purposes, for me, they have to be distinct entities.") (emphasis added).

⁵⁵ See D.R.2167-2168 [Final Order, ¶ 104-107], citing testimony of Mr. Nathan and Mr. Isabell.

the agreements against Pinnacle's contract operator.⁵⁶ Simply put, the agencies' actions in loading Mr. Nathan into the ownership and control databases spurred the Plan Administrator to do what the law otherwise required him to do—take actions to try to secure transfer of the permits and, in the meantime, bring Pinnacle Mining into compliance with the permits and applicable law. Rather than undermining the permit blocking program, the agencies' actions in loading Mr. Nathan into ownership and control did precisely what the statute contemplates—spurred the controller of a permit holder to take action to bring the permit holder he controls into compliance with its permits and law.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

While the Respondent would welcome oral argument before the Court, the Respondent believes that oral argument is unnecessary to decide this Appeal in accordance with Rule 18(a)(4). The briefs and the record on appeal, including the extensive, reasoned, and fully supported decisions of the Director and the Board, fully present the facts and legal arguments. The Respondent contends that the decisions below involved a straightforward application of documented facts to the standards established under the statute and the State Rules and, accordingly, denies that the decisions below involve either a novel application of settled law or narrow issues of law. As a result, the Respondent does not believe that oral argument would significantly aid this Court's decisional process.

IV. ARGUMENT

The State Rules define the terms Owned or Controlled and Owns or Controls as, among other things, "[h]aving any other relationship which gives one person authority directly or

⁵⁶ See D.R.2159 [Final Order, ¶ 64] (noting that DEP loaded the Plan Administrator as a controller of Pinnacle on August 1, 2022) & D.R.2168 [Final Order, ¶ 109] (noting the Plan Administrator filed a motion to enforce the Bluestone agreements on September 27, 2022).

indirectly to determine the manner in which an applicant, an operator, or other entity conducts surface mining operations."⁵⁷ The parties agree that the proper application of that definition lies at the heart of this Appeal.

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